Filed 11-16-2020

Page 1 of 44

FILED 11-16-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# COURT OF APPEALS

# DISTRICT III

# Case No. 2020AP1058-CR

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

TERESA L. CLARK,

Defendant-Respondent.

# ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO COLLATERALLY ATTACK A PRIOR CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE ASHLAND COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN P. ANDERSON, PRESIDING

## **BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

INTRODUCTION				
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS6				
STANDARD OF REVIEW 10				
ARGUMENT 11				
I. A de prior show coun defer cour waiv shift	efendant collaterally attacking a r conviction has the burden to v that she did not validly waive here in the prior case. A ndant's mere allegation that the t failed to properly accept her ver of counsel is not sufficient to t the burden to the State to re a valid waiver A circuit court that accepts a defendant's waiver of counsel is required to ensure that the waiver is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary	11		
B.	A defendant collaterally attacking a prior conviction on the ground that her right to counsel was violated in the prior case must prove that she did not waive counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily.	13		

C.	When a defendant collaterally attacking a prior conviction makes a prima facie showing that her right to counsel was violated in the prior case, the burden shifts to the State to prove that she validly waived counsel
D.	When no transcript showing a defective waiver of counsel is available, a defendant cannot show a prima facie violation of her right to counsel based on mere allegations, so the burden should not shift to the State
E.	When a transcript of a waiver of counsel is not available for reasons other than the State's misconduct or negligence, a defendant collaterally attacking the prior conviction must overcome the presumption that a final conviction was regular, and that the court in the prior case performed its required duties in accepting the waiver
F.	A defendant collaterally attacking a prior conviction who cannot point to a transcript showing an invalid waiver of counsel, but who sufficiently alleges an invalid waiver, is entitled to an evidentiary hearing at which she can attempt to prove that her right to counsel was violated

ii

II.	denie prior	a failed to prove that she was ed the right to counsel in her cases, so her collateral attack on should have been denied
	A.	Clark did not show a prima facie violation of her right to counsel in her prior cases, so the <i>Bangert</i> burden-shifting procedure did not apply
	В.	Clark's allegations were sufficient under <i>Bentley</i> to entitle her to an evidentiary hearing
	C.	At the evidentiary hearing, Clark did not prove that she was denied the right to counsel in her prior cases
CONCLUS	SION	

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
Cases
Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969) 11, 27
Carnley v. Cochran, 369 U.S. 506 (1962)
<i>Iowa v. Tovar</i> , 541 U.S. 77 (2004) 11, 13, 20, 34
Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458 (1938)
Nelson v. State, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972) 29, 30
Parke v. Raley, 506 U.S. 20 (1993)
People v. Galland, 197 P.3d 736 (Cal. 2009)
Pickens v. State, 96 Wis. 2d 549, 292 N.W.2d 601 (1980) 12, 34
State v. Baker, 169 Wis. 2d 49, 485 N.W.2d 237 (1992)23, passim
State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334 16
State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986)5, passim
State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) 5, 21, 29, 31
State v. Bohlinger, 2013 WI App 39, 346 Wis. 2d 549, 828 N.W.2d 900
State v. Clark, 179 Wis. 2d 484, 507 N.W.2d 172 (Ct. App. 1993)

State v. Drexler, 2003 WI App 169, 266 Wis. 2d 438, 669 N.W.2d 182
State v. Ernst, 2005 WI 107, 283 Wis. 2d 300, 699 N.W.2d 92
State v. Hahn, 2000 WI 118, 238 Wis. 2d 889, 618 N.W.2d 528 13, 17
State v. Hampton, 2004 WI 107, 274 Wis. 2d 379, 683 N.W.2d 14
State v. Klessig, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997)9, passim
State v. Negrete, 2012 WI 92, 343 Wis. 2d 1, 819 N.W.2d 749
State v. Patterson, 2009 WI App 161, 321 Wis. 2d 752, 776 N.W.2d 602 28
State v. Sorenson, 2002 WI 78, 254 Wis. 2d 54, 646 N.W.2d 354 13
Statutes
Wis. Stat. § 971.08
Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2)
Other Authorities
SCR 72.01
SCR 72.01

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

A defendant collaterally attacking a prior conviction on the ground that she was denied the right to counsel has the burden of proving that she did not waive counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. A defendant shows a prima facie violation of her right to counsel by pointing to evidence—typically a transcript—showing that the circuit court failed to give her the information required for her to validly waive counsel, and alleging that she did not understand the information the court failed to give her. When a defendant makes this showing, the burden shifts to the State to prove that, notwithstanding the court's failure, the defendant waived counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily.

Teresa M. Clark was charged with operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant (OWI) and with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC), both as fourth offenses. She collaterally attacked two of her prior convictions. No transcripts are available for the prior cases, and the court reporter's notes have been destroyed in accordance with the law. Clark alleged that the courts failed to adequately inform her of her right to counsel, but she did not point to evidence showing that the court failed to do so.

I. Does the burden shift to the State when the defendant does not point to evidence that *shows* that the circuit court failed to inform her of the right to counsel but merely *alleges* that the court failed to do so?

The circuit court answered "yes." It concluded that the burden shifts to the State based solely on a defendant's affidavit alleging that the circuit court failed to give her the information required for her to validly waive counsel, even though no evidence shows that the court failed to give her that information. This Court should answer "no." If a defendant does not show a prima facie violation of her right to counsel with evidence that *shows* that the circuit court failed to give her the information required for her to validly waive counsel, the burden should not shift to the State to prove a valid waiver. A defendant who sufficiently alleges a violation of her right to counsel is entitled to a hearing, but she must prove that her right to counsel was violated.

II. Did Clark prove that her right to counsel was violated in her prior cases?

The circuit court answered "yes." It concluded that Clark satisfied her burden by alleging that the circuit courts in her prior cases failed to give her the required information, and that the burden shifted to the State. The court granted Clark's collateral attack motion because it concluded that the State did not then prove that Clark waived her right to counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily.

This Court should answer "no." Clark did not show that the circuit courts in her prior cases failed to give her the required information, so the burden should not have shifted to the State. Clark was entitled to a hearing, but she failed to prove that she did not waive counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily, so her collateral attack motion should have been denied.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument. Publication of this Court's opinion will likely be appropriate to provide guidance to circuit courts in deciding collateral attack motions when no evidence shows that a circuit court failed to give the defendant the information required for her to validly waive her right to counsel in a prior case.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

A circuit court accepting a defendant's waiver of counsel must be satisfied that the defendant understands her right to counsel and is waiving that right knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. In Wisconsin, a court is required to conduct a personal colloquy with the defendant to ensure a valid waiver of counsel.

When the State uses a prior OWI conviction to enhance the charge and sentence for a subsequent OWI offense, a defendant may collaterally attack the prior conviction. If the defendant proves that her right to counsel was violated in the prior case, the conviction may not be used to enhance the charge and sentence in the new case.

A defendant collaterally attacking a prior conviction must do two things to make a prima facie showing of a violation of her right to counsel. She must point to evidence showing that the court in the prior case failed to give her the required information to validly waive counsel—typically a transcript of the waiver hearing. And she must allege that she did not understand the information that the circuit court failed to give her. When the defendant makes this prima facie showing, the burden shifts to the State to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant knew or understood the information the court failed to provide, and validly waived counsel notwithstanding the court's error.

The issues in this case concern what procedure applies when a defendant does *not* point to evidence *showing* that the circuit court failed to give her the required information but instead merely *alleges* that the court failed to do so. Circuit courts in Wisconsin routinely grant collateral attack motions in cases where a defendant does not point to evidence *showing* that the circuit court failed to give her the required information. Circuit courts routinely conclude that just as a defendant makes a prima facie showing of a denial of her right to counsel by pointing to evidence *showing* that the circuit court failed to give her the required information, a defendant makes the same prima facie showing by merely *alleging* that the circuit court failed to give her the required information.

conclusion Courts reach this even though a presumption of regularity attaches to a final conviction. When a final conviction is collaterally attacked, courts should presume that the court in the prior case properly informed the defendant about the right to counsel, and was satisfied that the defendant was waiving her right to counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. When a court shifts the burden to the State without evidence *showing* that the court properly informed the defendant, it is ignoring the presumption of regularity, and instead presuming that the circuit court in the prior case failed to ensure that the defendant was waiving her right to counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. It is presuming, without any actual proof, that the prior circuit court accepted a waiver of counsel in violation of the defendant's right to counsel.

When a court shifts the burden to the State to prove that the defendant waived counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily, the State usually cannot satisfy this burden. Therefore, even when defendants cannot show that the circuit court in their prior cases erred in any way, their collateral attacks on their prior convictions are usually granted.

In this case, the circuit court granted Clark's collateral attack motion even though she pointed to no evidence—such as a transcript, showing that the circuit courts in her prior cases failed to give her the information required for her to validly waive her right to counsel. There are no transcripts or court reporter's notes for either of Clark's two prior cases. Clark alleged, but did not show, that the circuit courts failed to give her the information required for her to validly waive her right to counsel. The circuit court concluded that Clark's allegation that the circuit courts in her prior cases failed to give her the required information, with no evidence showing that the courts actually failed to do so, was prima facie proof of the prior courts' failures. It therefore shifted the burden to the State to prove that Clark nonetheless waived her right to counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily.

The court concluded that the State did not show that Clark understood the information that she alleged (but did not show) that the prior courts failed to give her, so it granted Clark's collateral attack motion. Consequently, Clark's three prior final OWI convictions, those cannot be used to enhance the charge for her current OWI, or the sentence if she is convicted. If Clark is convicted of OWI in this case, she will not be sentenced for a fourth offense (a felony). She will be sentenced for a first offense (a civil forfeiture).

The State asks this Court to clarify that to shift the burden to the State under *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), a defendant must show a prima facie violation of her right to counsel. She must overcome the presumption of regularity that attaches to a final conviction. To do so, a defendant must *show* that the circuit court failed to adequately inform her of her right to counsel and failed to ensure that she was waiving counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. A defendant who merely alleges but does not point to evidence showing that the circuit court in the prior case failed to give her the required information in the prior case does not show a prima facie violation of her right to counsel.

When a defendant cannot show that the court in the prior case failed to give her the required information, the collateral attack motion should be resolved under *State v*. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). If the defendant's allegations are sufficient, she is entitled to a hearing, but she retains the burden to prove that her right to

counsel was violated. In short, the State asks this Court to clarify that a defendant's mere *allegation* that a prior court failed to properly accept a defendant's waiver of counsel is not sufficient to prove the court failed, and shift the burden to the State to prove a valid waiver.

Clark alleged that the circuit courts in her prior cases failed to give her the required information, but she pointed to no evidence showing that the courts failed to do so. The *Bangert* burden-shifting procedure was therefore inapplicable. Clark's motion and affidavit were sufficient to entitle her to a hearing, but she should have retained the burden of proving that she did not waive counsel knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. She failed to satisfy her burden, so her motion should have been denied.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 5, 2018, at 2:06 a.m., Ashland County Sheriff's Deputies responded to a crash involving a car and a truck, both with major damage. (R. 11:2–3, A-App. 188–89.) R.N.S., told a deputy that she had been driving her car on State Highway 112 when a truck came into her lane, leaving her no time to react before the vehicles collided. (R. 11:3, A-App. 189.) R.N.S. said she never saw the truck's headlights. (R. 11:3–4, A-App. 189–90.) The deputy observed that the car's headlights were on, but the truck's headlights were not. (R. 11:3–4, A-App. 189–90.) R.N.S. told the deputies that after the crash, the other driver approached her, and said, "I am going to jail," and then left the scene. (R. 11:4, A-App. 190.) R.N.S. was later treated for injuries sustained in the crash. (R. 11:4, A-App. 190.)

After the deputies located Clark, she told them that the car hit her truck, and that she left the scene after the crash because she had been drinking and didn't want to go to jail. (R. 11:3, A-App. 189.) A deputy detected a strong odor of intoxicants coming from Clark and observed that she had slurred speech, glossy eyes, and unsteady balance. (R. 11:3, A-App. 189.) Clark said she had been drinking all day since about noon and stopped shortly before the crash when she left a bar, after about five drinks. (R. 11:3, A-App. 189.)

A deputy conducted standardized field sobriety tests and observed clues on each of the tests. Clark agreed to a preliminary breath test, which gave a result of 0.14. (R. 11:3– 4, A-App. 189–90.) The deputy then arrested Clark for OWI and took her to a hospital where she agreed to a blood test which revealed an alcohol concentration of 0.194. (R. 11:4, A-App. 190.)

Clark's Wisconsin DOT driving record showed three prior OWI convictions, in Chippewa County in 1994, and in Eau Claire County in 1995 and 2002. (R. 11:3, A-App. 189.) The State therefore charged her with OWI and PAC, both as 4th offenses. (R. 11, A-App. 187–91; 15, A-App. 191–94.) It also charged her with OWI causing injury and PAC causing injury, both as 2nd or subsequent offenses. (R. 11, A-App. 187–91; 15, A-App. 191–94.)

Clark moved to collaterally attack her two Eau Claire County OWI convictions. (R. 29, A-App. 102–03.) In an affidavit, Clark's defense counsel asserted that the file for Clark's 1995 case has been destroyed pursuant to SCR 72.01(18) because 20 years have passed, and a transcript cannot be prepared for her 2002 plea hearing because the court reporter's notes are no longer available. (R. 30, A-App. 107–10.)

Clark claimed in an affidavit that she did not have an attorney in the two cases. (R. 31:1, A-App. 104.) She said the judges in those cases did not address her personally or conduct a colloquy in accepting her waiver of counsel. Clark alleged that she did not make a deliberate choice to proceed without counsel, that she did not know her rights, what an attorney could do for her, or the seriousness of the charges and the penalties she faced by pleading guilty in both cases. (R. 31:2–3, A-App. 105–06.)

The State conceded that the allegations in Clark's motion and affidavit entitled her to a hearing. (R. 36; 67:4, A-App. 119.) But the State asserted that since Clark did not point to evidence showing that the courts in her prior cases failed to give her the information required for her to validly waive counsel, it should remain Clark's burden to prove that she was denied the right to counsel in those cases. (R. 36; 67:4, A-App. 119.)

At the hearing, Clark testified that the judges in her 1995 and 2002 cases never told her she had the right to counsel, or about the seriousness of the charges or the penalties she faced. (R. 67:6–8, A-App. 121–23.) Clark also testified that she did not know the information that she alleged the judges failed to give her. (R. 67:8–9, A-App. 123– 24.)

The parties did not present any documents from the 1995 case because the record had been destroyed. The State presented four documents from the 2002 case: the criminal complaint, a bond sheet, and minutes sheets from the hearing at which Clark pleaded no contest to OWI as a third offense, and the hearing at which she was sentenced. (R. 37, A-App. 111; 38, A-App. 112; 39, A-App. 113; 40, A-App. 114–15.)

The criminal complaint indicated that Clark was charged with both OWI and PAC as third offenses and it listed the penalties for those charges. (R. 40:1, A-App. 114.) The complaint alleged that Clark was charged after crashing her vehicle, and that testing revealed that her alcohol concentration was .259. (R. 40:2, A-App. 115.)

On the minutes sheet for the plea hearing, boxes indicating that Clark appeared "without counsel," that she pleaded "No Contest" to OWI 3rd, and that "Def. advised of [her] right to attorney/constitutional rights" were checked. (R. 39, A-App. 113.) The minutes sheet indicated that the PAC charge was dismissed but would be read in at sentencing. (R. 39, A-App. 113.)

The minutes sheet for the sentencing hearing indicated that the court imposed 55 days of jail with Huber and stayed the sentence. (R. 39, A-App. 113.) On the minutes sheet, boxes indicating that Clark appeared "without counsel," and that "Def. advised of [her] right to attorney/constitutional rights" were checked. (R. 38, A-App. 112.)

Clark acknowledged signing the bond sheet at her initial appearance, but she said did not know what she was signing. (R. 67:20–21, A-App. 135–36.) She also acknowledged receiving the criminal complaint, which listed the potential penalties she faced, but she said, "I don't know if I read it; I may have read it." (R. 67:26, A-App. 141.)

Clark acknowledged that the information on the minutes sheets for the plea and sentencing hearings were correct. (R. 67:30, 33, A-App. 145, 148.) But she said the judges did not advise her of her constitutional rights. (R. 67:37, 40, A-App. 152, 155.)

At the close of the hearing, the State asserted that Clark's convictions were final and should be presumed regular (R. 68:5, A-App. 175), and that Clark did not meet her burden of showing that she was denied the right to counsel in her prior cases (R. 68:6–7, A-App. 176–77).

Defense counsel told the court that because the State did not present evidence refuting it, Clark's testimony is "a verity." (R. 68:10, A-App. 180.) Counsel said, "this may seem unfair, but this is the law. This is the way it goes. And in order for the Court to deny this motion, you have to disavow all of the case law, throw out *Klessig*,<sup>1</sup> and imply things the State has not proven." (R. 68:10, A-App. 180.) Counsel said that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Klessig, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997).

because the record does not prove that Clark was advised of her rights, "[t]he Court has little or no choice in this case just because of the proof issues." (R. 68:10, A-App. 180.)

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