FILED 02-08-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Case No.

Plaintiff-Appellant,

2020AP1058-CR

v.

TERESA L. CLARK,

Defendant-Respondent.

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

ON APPEAL FROM CIRCUIT COURT FOR ASHLAND COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOHN P. ANDERSON PRESIDING

GONDIK LAW, S.C. Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent.

By: Electronically signed by Garrett M. Gondik

GARRETT M. GONDIK State Bar No. 1114261

POST OFFICE ADDRESS:

1215 Belknap Street Superior, Wisconsin 54880 (715) 395-3180 garrettgondik@gmail.com

Filed 02-08-2021

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the circuit court's order granting Ms. Clark's collateral attack motion. Ms. Clark made a prima facie showing that her right to counsel had been violated in the previous proceedings. Furthermore, the State fell far short of proving by clear and convincing evidence that Ms. Clark's waivers were knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Therefore, the circuit court correctly granted Ms. Clark's collateral attack motion.

The State urges this Court to overrule well-established and sound precedent regarding the burden of proof in

collateral attacks. Specifically, the State claims Ms. Clark should have retained the burden because transcripts of the plea hearings in the previous proceedings are unavailable. (State's Brief, pg. 33).³ The State's proposed rule, however, is unsupported by law. In fact, the State's proposed rule is directly contrary to controlling precedent.

ARGUMENT

I. The State's Argument Regarding the Burden of Proof in Collateral Attacks is Unsupported by Law and Directly Contrary to Controlling Precedent

Α. Standard of Review

In making a collateral attack, the defendant must first make a prima facie showing that she did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive her constitutional right to counsel. *Id.* at ¶ 2. Whether a defendant has made this prima facie showing is a question of law for *de novo* review. *Id.* at ¶ 26.

B. Right to Counsel and Procedure for Collateral **Attacks on Prior Convictions**

"A criminal defendant in Wisconsin is guaranteed the fundamental right to the assistance of counsel for his defense

³ Citations to page numbers in the State's brief correspond to the page numbers found at the bottom of the State's brief.

9

by both Article I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution as made applicable to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment." *State vs. Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d 194, 201-02, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997). "The right to the assistance of counsel is necessary to ensure that a criminal defendant receives a fair trial, that all defendants stand equal before the law and, ultimately that justice is served." *Gideon vs. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 344 (1963).

A circuit court is required to undertake a colloquy with the defendant to ensure the defendant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived her right to counsel.

Klessig*, 211 Wis. 2d at 206. Before accepting a waiver of the right to counsel, a circuit court must conduct a colloquy to ensure the defendant "(1) made a deliberate choice to proceed without counsel, (2) was aware of the difficulties and disadvantages of self-representation, (3) was aware of the seriousness of the charge or charges against him, and (4) was aware of the general range of penalties that could have been imposed on him. If the circuit court fails to conduct such a colloquy, a reviewing court may not find, based on the record, that there was a valid waiver of counsel." **Id.

A defendant may collaterally attack a prior conviction in an enhanced sentence proceeding on the grounds that she was denied the constitutional right to counsel. State vs. Hahn, 2000 WI 118, ¶ 25, 238 Wis. 2d 889, 618 N.W.2d 528. In *Ernst*, our supreme court set forth the procedure that applies when a defendant attempts to collaterally attack a prior conviction. Ernst, 2005 WI at ¶ 2. First, the defendant must make a prima facie showing that her constitutional right to counsel was violated in the previous proceeding. *Id.* at $\P 25$. To do so, the defendant must point to facts demonstrating that she did not know or understand the information that should have been provided in the previous proceeding and, therefore, did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive her right to counsel. Id. "An affidavit from the defendant setting forth such facts [is] necessary, in order to establish a prima facie case." *Id.* at ¶ 33.

If the defendant makes this prima facie showing, the burden shifts to the State to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's waiver of counsel was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *Id.* at ¶ 27. "[T]he court should, at such a time, hold an evidentiary hearing to allow the State an opportunity to meets its burden." *Id.* If the State fails to meet

its burden, the defendant will be entitled to attack, successfully and collaterally her previous conviction. *Id.*

C. The State's Argument is Unsupported by Law

The State argues the rule in collateral attacks should be that of *State vs. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) (a plea withdrawal case; not a collateral attack case), in which a defendant must show a defect in the court's required colloquy, on the face of a transcript. (State's Br., pgs. 17 and 30). The State further contends this Court in *State vs. Drexler*, 2003 WI App 169, 266 Wis. 2d 438, 669 N.W.2d 182 and our supreme court in *State vs. Baker*, 169 Wis. 2d 49, 485 N.W.2d 237 (1992) erred in holding that a defendant's affidavit alone can support a prima facie showing in the absence of a transcript. (Id. at. pg. 23).

The thrust of the State's argument is that the absence of transcripts precludes Ms. Clark from making a prima facie showing that her right to counsel was violated in the previous proceedings. (Id. at. pgs. 17 and 30). The State's argument regarding the burden of proof in collateral attacks fails for multiple reasons.

Ernst held that a defendant collaterally attacking a prior conviction can establish a prima facie case through an

affidavit. *Ernst*, 2005 WI at ¶ 33. *Ernst* expressly stated that an affidavit is "necessary" in order to establish a prima facie showing that the defendant's right to counsel had been violated. *Id*. Indeed, the defendant's use of an affidavit is what triggers the State's right to question the defendant at a collateral attack evidentiary hearing. *Id*. at ¶¶ 33-35.

Contrary to the State's assertion, there is nothing in *Ernst* suggesting the burden-shifting procedure only applies to collateral attack motions when a transcript of the previous plea hearing exists. In fact, this Court has on numerous occasions applied the *Ernst* burden-shifting methodology to collateral attack motions when there is no plea hearing transcript. *See State vs. Krueger*, 2016AP2438-CR, unpublished slip. op., (WI App. May 25, 2017); *State vs. Schwandt*, 2011AP2301-CR, unpublished slip. op., (WI App. May 16, 2012); *State vs. Steinhorst*, 2011AP1360-CR, unpublished slip. op., (WI App. November 23, 2011).⁴

The State also misinterprets the holding in *Ernst*. The following are actual quotes from the State's brief. "As this Court noted, in *Ernst*, the supreme court explained the type of

⁴ Pursuant to § 809.23(3)(b), *Krueger, Schwandt*, and *Steinhorst* are cited for their persuasive value.

allegations a defendant must make in order to make a prima facie showing of a violation of the defendant's right to counsel." (State's Br., pg. 20). "But *Ernst* did not say that those allegations alone would be sufficient to make a prima facie showing." (Id). In other words, the State claims *Ernst* requires a defendant to submit more than an affidavit to make a prima facie showing. This argument clearly lacks merit.

As stated, to make a prima facie showing, a defendant must point to facts showing that he or she did not actually know or understand the information that should have been provided in the earlier proceeding. Ernst, 2005 WI at ¶ 25. An affidavit containing these facts is necessary to make such a prima facie showing. *Id.* at ¶ 33. *Ernst* did not suggest that additional evidence, such as a transcript, let alone a transcript which is unavailable through no fault of the defendant, is necessary for a defendant to make a prima facie showing, thereby shifting the burden to the State. In fact, the defendant in *Ernst* supplied the circuit court with a transcript of his previous plea hearing. *Id.* at ¶ 26. The transcript, however, was insufficient to establish a prima facie case. Id. Ernst remanded to the circuit court to allow the defendant "... the

opportunity to file an affidavit and attempt to establish a prima facie case." *Id.* at ¶ 9.

If *Ernst* intended for the burden-shifting procedure to only apply to collateral attacks when transcripts are available, one would reasonably expect it would have stated as much. It did not. Rather, the *Ernst* burden-shifting procedure applies to all collateral attacks no matter if transcripts exist or not.

The State's proposed rule also conflicts with *Drexler*. In *Drexler*, the defendant averred he was not informed during prior proceedings "that he could have the court appoint counsel for him if he could not afford counsel, and the state or the county could be held responsible for paying the cost of appointed counsel." *Drexler*, 2003 WI App at ¶ 6. This Court held that a "defendant's affidavit is sufficient to establish a prima facie case of being denied the right to counsel" in a collateral attack. *Id.* at ¶ 10. Thus, "Once Drexler made this prima facie case . . . the burden was on the State to come forward with evidence countering Drexler's affidavit." *Id.*

Similarly, the State's proposed rule is in direct conflict with *Baker*. In *Baker*, the defendant averred he did not waive his right to counsel in a previous proceeding. *Baker*, 169 Wis. 2d at 77. A transcript of the previous proceeding could not be

produced. *Id.* at 58. *Baker* held that a defendant alleging he was deprived of counsel at a prior proceeding bears the initial burden of production and must make a prima facie showing that his right to counsel had been violated. *Id.* at 77. *Baker* further held that a defendant's affidavit is sufficient to make a prima facie showing. *Id.* at 77-78. Once a defendant makes this prima facie showing, the State has the burden of proving the defendant knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived counsel. *Id.* at 78.

Furthermore, the State's argument is identical to the failed argument it made only six years ago in *State vs. Lebo*, 2014AP730-CR, unpublished slip. op., (WI App. April 7, 2015). In *Lebo*, this Court and this very district, rejected the State's request to overrule *Drexler* and *Baker* and to otherwise radically change the burden of proof in collateral attacks. *Lebo* at ¶ 29. More specifically, this Court rejected the State's assertion that collateral attacks must be analyzed under plea withdrawal standards. *Id*. Thus, this Court has already dismissed the State's argument that a defendant making a collateral attack retains the burden if she cannot

-

⁵ Pursuant to § 809.23(3)(b), *Lebo* is cited for its persuasive value.

produce the transcript from the plea hearing in the earlier proceeding. *Id*.

The State's failure to acknowledge *Lebo* is baffling. While Ms. Clark understands *Lebo* is an unpublished decision and, therefore, not precedent, its reasoning is sound and certainly persuasive. The issue presented in *Lebo* is identical to the issue in the present case. Just as it did in *Lebo*, the State argues collateral attacks should be analyzed under plea withdrawal standards. Rather than go down the State's plea withdrawal analogy rabbit hole, the defendant in *Lebo* aptly pointed out that neither this Court nor our supreme court has adopted a Bangert or Nelson vs. State, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972)/State vs. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) (plea withdrawal cases; not collateral attack cases) type rule in collateral attacks. This Court agreed, stating "... the State's argument regarding the burden of proof is not supported by existing law." *Lebo* at ¶ 29.

Lebo also observed that the State's proposed rule "would run contrary to Baker and Drexler, both of which held that a defendant's affidavit alone can establish a prima facie case that the defendant's right to counsel was violated, thereby shifting the burden of proof to the State." Id.

Similarly, *Lebo* recognized that the State's proposed rule would also conflict with State vs. Bohlinger, 2013 WI App 39, 346 Wis. 2d 549, 828 N.W.2d 900. *Id.* In *Bohlinger*, the defendant moved to collaterally attack two prior OWI convictions. *Bohlinger*, 2013 WI App at ¶ 2. He did not allege the waiver of counsel colloquies in those cases were facially deficient. *Id.* at ¶ 5. Rather, he argued he was unable to understand the information provided to him because of cognitive and learning disabilities. Id. The circuit court found that the defendant did not have the cognitive capability to waive his right to counsel in the previous proceedings. *Id.* at ¶ 13. Yet, the circuit court denied the defendant's motion because it did not allege the waiver colloquies in the prior cases were deficient. Id.

This Court reversed, stating, "While *Ernst* states that a defective colloquy 'can form the basis for a collateral attack' when supported by additional evidence, it does not hold that a defendant must allege a defective colloquy in order to state a prima facie case." *Id.* at ¶ 18. This Court remanded to the circuit court to hold an evidentiary hearing, at which the State would have the burden to prove that the defendant "in fact possessed the constitutionally required knowledge and

understanding to execute valid waivers of counsel." *Id.* at ¶ 21. Thus, *Bohlinger* applied the *Ernst* burden-shifting procedure despite the defendant's failure to allege any defect in the previous waiver of counsel colloquies. *Lebo* at ¶ 29.

Lebo further stated that "... while our supreme court has expressly distinguished between plea withdrawal motions that allege defects evident on the face of the plea hearing transcript and motions that set forth other bases for plea withdrawal, neither the supreme court nor this court has recognized a similar distinction in the context of collateral attack motions." *Id*.

Nothing has changed since *Lebo* that would warrant this Court in the present case reaching a different conclusion regarding the burden of proof in collateral attacks. *Drexler*, *Baker*, and *Bohlinger* all remain binding precedent. All of the Court's reasons for rejecting the State's argument in *Lebo* ring just as true today as they did when *Lebo* was decided.

The State also seeks to minimize *Baker*, insisting the holding in *Baker* was premised on the fact a transcript of the plea hearing was lost by the State. (State's Br., pgs. 23-26). The State erroneously claims that *Baker* only applies to collateral attack motions where the State loses a transcript it

should have been able to produce. (Id). The State's narrow and faulty interpretation of *Baker* is flat-out wrong.

Nothing in *Baker* even remotely suggests that a defendant's affidavit is sufficient to make a prima facie showing only when the State loses a transcript it should have been able to produce. Rather, *Baker* stands for the proposition that when a transcript is unavailable—regardless of why it is unavailable—a defendant's affidavit alone can be sufficient to make a prima facie showing. This interpretation of *Baker* was adopted by this Court in *Drexler*. *See Drexler*, 2003 WI App at ¶ 10.

Notably, the State advanced the same flawed argument regarding the *Baker* holding in *Lebo*. As this Court correctly noted, the holding in *Baker* was not premised on the fact the State lost a transcript it should have been able to produce. *Lebo* at ¶ 26, n.2. Even though this Court made it crystal clear that the State's interpretation of *Baker* was incorrect, the State still proceeds to misstate the *Baker* holding in this case.

The State devotes numerous pages of its brief discussing plea withdrawal cases. For reasons stated, the State's plea withdrawal analogy fails. No controlling

precedent supports the State's argument that collateral attacks must be analyzed under plea withdrawal standards.

The State voices its displeasure with *Ernst*, *Drexler*, *Baker*, and *Bohlinger* and takes the bold position that our supreme court and this Court incorrectly decided and interpreted those cases. (State's Br., pg. 23). The State fails to recognize, however, that there is no controlling precedent supporting its flawed argument regarding the burden of proof in collateral attacks. While the State may disapprove of *Ernst*, *Drexler*, *Baker*, and *Bohlinger*, those cases remain law and dictate the outcome in the present case. When *Ernst*, *Drexler*, *Baker*, and *Bohlinger* are applied, it is clear the circuit court correctly granted Ms. Clark's collateral attack motion.

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